I. INTRODUCTION 

This is the second appeal in this case. The first appeal, currently 

pending under cause number 31867-4, is from the superior court's order 

granting respondent VMSI, LLC's cross-motion for summary judgment 

dismissal of HSC's cross-claims. HSC timely appealed that order. At 

about the time HSC filed its reply brief on the earlier appeal, the superior 

court entered an order granting in part VMSI's motion for an award of 

prevailing party fees and costs against HSC and entered judgment on that 

award. While the fee and cost order and judgment will be vacated if HSC 

prevails on its appeal of the order on summary judgment, the superior 

court committed an independent errors of law in granting VMSI's motion 

for fees and costs. VMSI's insurer, Fireman's Fund Insurance Company 

("Fireman's Fund"), controls the litigation and is improperly seeking, and 

was awarded, subrogation against its own insured, HSC, on the same 

policy of insurance issued to VMSI. Fireman's Fund admits HSC is an 

additional insured on that policy. 

Because the superior court's award of prevailing party fees and 

costs to VMSI effectively grants the two parties' common insurer, 

Fireman's Fund, subrogation against its own insured, the order and 
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judgment were the result of an error of law subject to de novo review. It 

should be reversed as the trial court's ruling is contrary to settled public 

policy of this state. 

In the alternative, even if it were proper for the superior court to 

award any fees and costs against HSC, the amount of the fees and costs 

was disputed and the superior court failed to enter findings of fact and 

conclusions of law necessary to this Court's review, rendering the amount 

of the award arbitrary and an abuse of discretion. Therefore, this Court 

should vacate the order and remand for entry of necessary findings of fact 

and conclusions of law. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The superior court erred in granting VMSI's renewed 

motion for an award of prevailing party fees and costs and entry of 

judgment because it allowed Fireman's Fund Insurance Company 

subrogation against its own insured, HSC. 

2. The superior court abused its discretion in awarding VMSI 

prevailing party attorneys' fees totaling $53,122.50. 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No.1. 

1. Whether Fireman's Fund is improperly subrogating through 



its named insured, VMSI, and against its additional insured, HSC on the 

same insurance policy. 

2. Whether an insurer must be an independent party to an 

action with its insured in order for the court to find it is subrogating 

against its own insured. (Finding of Fact No.9; Conclusion of Law Nos. 

2,3,4, & 5). 

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No.2. 

1. Whether the superior court erred in skipping a lodestar 

analysis to decide that a particular hourly rate for VMSI's attorneys and a 

particular number of hours incurred were "reasonable." 

2. Whether the superior court made sufficient findings of fact 

supported by substantial evidence to support its conclusion that $225.00 

per hour was the reasonable hourly rate for VMSI's assigned insurance 

defense counsel when the hourly rate actually charged was substantially 

less. (Finding of Fact Nos. 11, 16, & 21; Conclusion of Law Nos. 2 & 5). 

3. Whether the superior court made sufficient findings of fact 

supported by substantial evidence to support its conclusion that VMSI's 

assigned insurance defense counsel reasonably incurred 236.1 hours in 

defense ofHSC's cross-claims. (Finding of Fact Nos. 16 & 21; 

Conclusion of Law Nos. 2 & 5). 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Because the two appeals have been consolidated for consideration 

on the merits, HSC will dispense with a recitation of the factual details of 

the underlying plaintiff's case brought by Ms. Dana Widrig, a resident of 

The Villas at Meadow Springs ("The Villas") apartment complex in 

Richland, Washington, who was the victim of a home invasion and sexual 

assault in her unit in the early lTIorning hours of December 5,2010. Those 

underlying facts are fully set forth in HSC' s prior briefing under cause no. 

31687-4-Ill. 

There are only two broad issues before the Court on HSC's present 

appeal. The first is the propriety of the superior court's award of any 

prevailing party fees and costs to VMSI when the litigation was under the 

complete control of VMSI' s insurer, Fireman's Fund, which in 

contravention of the public policy of Washington sought to subrogate 

against its additional insured on the same policy, HSC. The second issue, 

which the Court need not reach if HSC prevails on the first issue, is 

whether the trial court abused its discretion in awarding $53,122.50 in 

prevailing party fees, ostensibly to VMSI. HSC submits the following 

facts pertinent to these discrete issues. 

A. The Claims at Issue Arise From a Written Management 
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Contract Between HSC and VMSI. 

The contractual claims at issue are based upon a written agreement 

between HSC Real Estate, Inc., as "Agent" and VMSI, LLC, as "Owner" 

dated October 25, 2004, for the management of The Villas as Meadow 

Springs ("The Villas") apartments in Richland, Washington. CP 277-82. 

Upon receipt of the summons and complaint, HSC tendered 

defense and indemnity to VMSI and its insurers under the terms of the 

agreement. See CP 299. When the tender was not accepted by VMSI or 

its insurers, HSC filed a mandatory cross-claim asserting breach of both 

the insurance provision of Section 10 and the defense and indemnity 

provision of Section 11. CP 12-15. In response, VMSI then asserted a 

provisional cross-claim for equitable indemnity against HSC, "[iJf VMSI 

is liable for any loss or damages as a result of the acts of HSC or 

Riverstone or its employees." CP 17. Because plaintiff's claims were 

settled without liability ever being established against either VMSI or 

HSC, the parties agreed on the earlier appeal that VMSI's cross-claim was 

mooted. 

Significantly, neither the indemnity provision nor the prevailing 

party provision of the parties' contract authorizes an award of fees 

expended by VMSI on its defense of plaintiff's claims against it. See CP 

-5-



281-82, <J[<J[ 12 & 20. At most, VMSI is only entitled to its counsel's time 

spent on its defense of HSC' s cross-claim. See id. at <J[ 20. The contract 

here simply does not provide indemnification to VMSI for defense of 

plaintiff's claims, and VMSI has never argued that it does. The prevailing 

party provision set forth in the Management Agreement is limited to an 

"action brought to enforce or to interpret the terms and provisions of this 

Agreement." Id. 

B. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company is Improperly 
Subrogating Against Its Own Insured. 

1. VMSI initially conceals the role of Fireman's Fund. 

After entry of the order on summary judgment already appealed 

and briefed in this case, VMSI's appointed counsel moved for an award of 

prevailing party fees and costs and for entry of judgment against HSC. CP 

20-21. This initial request was for an award of ALL of the fees and costs 

incurred on behalf of VMSI in the entire case, including defense of 

plaintiff Dana Widrig's claims. The claim totaled $138,685.15, less the 

flat-fee amount of $14,688, for a net sum of $123,997.15. See CP 23. 

There was no reference to any deductible or self-insured retention owing 

or paid by VMSI. See generally, CP 20-24. 

Counsel's declaration stated that this was an insurance defense 
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case financed by Fireman's Fund. CP 22. VMSI's counsel stated his 

typical charge for insurance defense cases is $195 per hour. CP 

Curiously, rather than submit copies of the actual billing statements, 

VMSI's counsel submitted only spreadsheets allegedly created from the 

billings all reflecting the requested attorney billing rate of $250 per hour. 

CP 30-52. So there was no information submitted on the actual billing 

rate on this case - other than the asserted flat-fee agreement with 

Fireman's Fund for $14,688. CP 22-24. 

Because VMSI's counsel did not submit copies of the billing 

statements and referenced a fee agreement with Fireman's Fund that was 

not in the record, HSC sought discovery limited to VMSI's claimed fees 

and costs. CP 84-88. Counsel for VMSI refused to provide it. CP 92-94. 

HSC brought this to the attention of the superior court in its opposition to 

VMSI's fees request. CP 60-61; CP 66-67. 

At the hearing on VMSI's first motion on May 7,2013, the 

superior court concluded that the actual billing statements were not 

privileged and must be produced along with other discovery requested by 

HSC. CP 252; CP 270-71, <J[ 4. The superior court also required VMSI's 

counsel to segregate the fees incurred in defense of plaintiff Dana Widrig's 

claims from those incurred in defense of HSC's cross-claims. See id. 
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Ultimately, VMSI's first motion was denied with leave to renew 

the motion after the required discovery was provided to HSC. VMSI 

subsequently produced the required segregation of its fees and costs 

between defense of plaintiff's claims and defense of HSC' s cross-claims. 

See ids. 

VMSI substantially, but not fully, complied with the superior 

court's order, by producing redacted copies of its billing statements, a 

partial segregation of fees, and counsel William Cameron to testify at 

deposition regarding the fees and costs. See CP 284-301; CP 399-413. 

2. HSC obtains discovery demonstrating that Fireman's 
Fund fully funded and controlled the litigation on 
behalf of VMSI. 

In response to the denial of its initial motion for prevailing party 

fees and costs, VMSI eventually produced redacted copies of its billing 

statements for the case. See CP 156-232. It is in these records that the 

hand of Fireman's Fund is first apparent when VMSI's counsel billed 

telephone calls with Fireman's Fund's coverage counsel Jodi McDougall 

after moving for summary judgment dismissal of plaintiff's claims and 

HSC's cross-claims. See CP 192.1 Later, there are discussions (redacted) 

I These are billed under L240, which is the ABA billing code for 
dispositive motions. 
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with Ms. McDougall and her partner at Cozen O'Connor, Melissa White, 

which become more frequent after the settlement and dismissal of 

plaintiff's claims. See CP 197,200,204-05,209,212-13,215,219-26, 

and 229-30. 

Counsel for VMSI also appeared for the deposition required by the 

superior court. That deposition revealed that counsel had no actual 

know ledge of the flat-fee agreement between his firm and Fireman's Fund. 

CP 287-88. He had no knowledge whether his client, VMSI, had a 

deductible or insured retention on its Fireman's Fund policy. CP 287. It 

was his understanding that Fireman's Fund had handled VMSI's response 

to HSC's tender to VMSI under the parties' contract, rather than counsel 

for VMSI. CP 290. And, despite counsel's frequent communications with 

Ms. McDougall and Ms. White at Cozen O'Connor, he testified to being 

ignorant of their actual roles, whether coverage counselor something else. 

CP 294. To him, they were simply "Fireman's Fund's attorneys." Id. 

In sum, the evidence of record reflects that VMSI paid nothing 

toward its own defense in the case, and Fireman's Fund fully and 

completely controlled the litigation on VMSI's behalf from beginning to 

end, not just through its appointed defense counsel, but through coverage 

counsel acting on its own behalf at the law firm of Cozen O'Connor. 
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C. VMS! Submits a Renewed Motion for A ward of 
Prevailing Party Fees and Costs and for Entry of 
Judgment. 

On June 4,2013, VMSI filed a renewed motion for entry of 

judgment for fees and costs. CP 149-52. Here, VMSI asserts that it did 

segregate its fees incurred defending against HSC's cross-claim from the 

fees incurred defending the Widrig claiIns. See id. There is no reference 

to a lodestar calculation. See id. Counsel's declaration requests a fee of 

$250 per hour, but provides no reference to the actual billing rate in effect 

for the case. See CP 153-55. However, the actual attorney billing rate of 

$185 per hour is indicated in the billing statements attached to the 

declaration. CP 156-226. Later billings commencing April 2013 show 

a rate of $190 per hour. CP 229-32. VMSI did not request a multiplier on 

the lodestar, but simply asserted $250 per hour as a "reasonable" rate. CP 

149-52. 

The only basis in the record cited by VMSI regarding its request 

for a rate of $250 per hour is in the declaration of HSC' s counsel Richard 

Martens submitted in February 2013. See CP 154, <Jr 8, citing Martens 

decl. (CP 93, <Jr 8 in Consol. No. 31687-4). Mr. Martens' prior request was 

based on a lodestar of $168 per hour, on which he requested a multiplier of 

approximately 1.5 to $250 per hour. (See CP 93, <Jr 8 in Consol. No. 
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31687-4). That request was rendered moot when HSC's motion for 

summary judgment was denied. 

VMSI ultimately asked the superior court to find that 288.7 hours 

of attorney time were reasonably incurred in defense of HSC' s cross

claims, including 106 hours alone (approximately 37%) on the multiple 

motions for prevailing party fees and costs. CP 241. 

HSC responded to VMSI's renewed motion by asserting a lodestar 

analysis, arguing the presumptively reasonable billing rate for VMSI's 

counsel is $185 per hour and the reasonable hours incurred in defense of 

HSC's claims totaled 42.7 hours. CP 257-62. 

After being reset by the court due to a conflict in the court's 

schedule, the hearing on VMSI's motion was held on August 2,2013. The 

superior court took the matter under advisement, and an order was finally 

issued over two and one-half months later on November 27,2013. CP 

415-20. Judgment was entered on December 10,2013. CP 436-41. This 

appeal, the second in the case, timely followed. 

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The arguments on this appeal are fairly straightforward. First, no 

award of fees and costs was proper because Fireman's Fund is seeking 

subrogation against HSC - its own insured - through its named insured on 
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the same policy, VMSI. Well-settled Washington law precludes an insurer 

from subrogating against its own insured for a loss incurred on the same 

policy on which the target subrogee is an insured. Therefore, on this basis 

alone, judgment against HSC should be reversed. 

Second, even assuming some award of fees and costs was proper, 

the superior court's award is not supported by findings of fact and 

conclusions of law sufficient for this Court to review. Nor are the findings 

that were entered supported by substantial evidence. For example, the 

evidence before the superior court indicated a lodestar fee for VMSI's 

counsel of $185 per hour. After stating that this case was neither 

"particularly complex or difficult to defend," the superior court decided to 

award VMSI's fees at a rate of $225 per hour. Thus, the choice of $225 

per hour was simply arbitrary and not supported by the findings or 

evidence in the record. 

Similarly, the superior court made no findings to support its 

conclusion that 236.1 hours in attorney time was "reasonably incurred" in 

defense of HSC' s cross-claim when the case was decided by summary 

judgment based on the court's the interpretation and construction of the 

parties' contract without resort to extrinsic evidence. Rather, the court 

started with VMSI's request for 288.7 hours and worked backward 
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deducting categories of time, such as travel, totaling 52.6 hours, 

finding the balance 236.1 "reasonable" any analysis of 

those whatsoever on the record. superior court's award of 

attorneys' fees and costs was an abuse of discretion and should be reversed 

Determination of the V.t'ldlC>I-".-'.L ...... 'v of an absolute bar to a ,LL<L/''.I.''''/AJ for 

and costs is a matter of See Wellman & 

, 170 681 285 ..,._." ..... ", a 

fees as a of 

a 

"'-''-' .. ,L .. ...,,L,.''. a statute, or a Fisher 

v. Inc., 849-50, 

law requires that "The seeking fees bears the OJU,Jl'-<"-",U of the 

reasonableness of the fees." Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 433-34, infra. 

decision on the amount of an attorney's award is to 

sound discretion of the trial court. Crest, V. Costco, 128 Wn. 

1 349 (2005). abuses 



discretion if exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. 

Berryman v. Metcalf, 177 Wn. App. 644, 312 P.3d 745 (2013) (citing 

Chuong Van Pham v. City of Seattle, 159 Wn.2d 527,538, 151 P.3d 976 

(2007)), review denied, 179 Wn.2d 1026,320 P.3d 718 (2014). 

B. The Superior Court Erred in A warding Any Fees and 
Costs Because Fireman's Fund is Seeking Subrogation 
Against Its Own Insured HSC. 

In rejecting HSC' s argument that Fireman's Fund was subrogating 

against its own insured, the superior court stated that, "[s]ince Fireman's 

Fund is not a party to that contract or this action, the court does not find 

HSC's argument persuasive or supported by the case law cited." CP 416. 

This was a plain error of law contrary to binding authority of the 

Washington Supreme Court. 

First, it is simply unheard of for a defending/subrogating insurer to 

be a party to the action (cf. CR 14( c)) or to a management contract 

between the named insured and an additional insured. If that were a 

requirement to finding that the litigant's insurer was seeking subrogation, 

the court could almost never make such a finding. 

Second, there was no reason for the subrogating insurer to be a 

party because in a subrogation action, the insured remains the real party in 

interest. See McRory v. Northern Ins. Co. ofN.Y., 138 Wn.2d 550,557 fn. 
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6,980 P.2d 736 (1999) ("In subrogation actions, the insured remains the 

real party in interest."), citing Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 413-15,957 P.2d 

632. Here, VMSI was the real party in interest with Fireman's Fund 

having a subrogated interest in any recovery against the co-insured HSC. 

See id. Since VMSI paid nothing for its defense, the entire amount sought 

is subrogated to Fireman's Fund. 

The rule is well-settled in Washington that an insurer is absolutely 

barred from seeking subrogation against its own insured. As the 

Washington Supreme Court succinctly stated some fifteen years ago in 

Mahler: "r-.~o right of subrogation can arise in favor of an insurer against its 

own insured since, by definition, subrogation exists only with respect to 

rights of the insurer against third parties to whom the insurer owes no 

duty." Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 419, quoting Stetina v. State Farm Mut. 

Auto. Ins. Co., 196 Neb. 441, 243 N.W.2d 341,346 (1976), and 16 

GEORGE J. COUCH, INSURANCE, § 61: 136, at 195-96, (2d Ed. 1983); see 

Community Ass'n Underwriters of Am., Inc. v. Kalles, 146 Wn. App. 30, 

259 P.3d 1154 (2011) (same). This statement of the applicable law in 

Mahler is as true today as it was fifteen years ago. Fireman's Fund cannot 

seek recovery of its fees, costs, and expenses against its own insured on 

the same policy, HSC. 
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There is no question that Fireman's Fund insured, defended, and 

indemnified both VMSI and HSC for the same loss on the same policy of 

insurance. See CP 331-33. Fireman's Fund's coverage counsel made that 

affirmative representation under penalty of perjury in the declaration she 

submitted to the superior court in support of VMSI' s opposition to HSC's 

renewed motion for summary judgment. See id. ("FFIC has been 

providing defenses without reservation to each of its insureds - VMSI, 

LLC and HSC Real Estate, Inc."). Thus, HSC is not and never has been a 

"third party to whom the insurer (Fireman's Fund) owes no duty." 

Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 419. 

Furthermore, VMSI's counsel was hired by Fireman's Fund to 

defend VMSI and was already fully paid by Fireman's Fund as evidenced 

by counsel's declaration and attached billing records. See CP 153-232. 

Accordingly, well-settled case law, reflecting long-established 

public policy in Washington against an insurance company subrogating 

against its own insured is an absolute bar to the award of attorney fees and 

costs made by the superior court. In ruling otherwise, the trial court 

committed error requiring reversal by this Court. 

C. The Superior Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
of Law are Inadequate for This Court's Review. 
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the absence of a predetermined method set forth in the contract 

itself, the proper method for the calculation of a reasonable fee award is 

the lodestar method. Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 433. Under the lodestar 

method, the trial court multiplies a reasonable hourly rate by the 

reasonable number of hours spent on the lawsuit. Id. at 434. This method 

dictates that fees are calculated by establishing a lodestar fee and then 

adjusting it up or down based on other external factors. Id. 

In deciding on a reasonableness of a fee, "the court may use the 

'factors' approach." Absher Construction Co. v. Kent Sch. Dist. No. 415, 

79 \Vn.App. 841,847,917 P.2d 1086 (1995) (citation omitted). Other 

"factors" include the amount customarily charged for similar work, the 

time and labor involved, the novelty and difficulty of the questions

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