OCT 21 2013

NO. 316874

COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

DANA WIDRIG, Plaintiff,

V.

THE VILLAS AT MEADOW SPRINGS, LLC, et al.

HSC REAL ESTATE, INC, Cross-claimant/Appellant

VMSI, LLC, Cross-Claim Defendant/Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT VMSI, LLC

Joel E. Wright, WSBA No. 8625 William L. Cameron, WSBA No. 5108 Of Attorneys for VMSI, LLC

LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 1800 One Convention Place 701 Pike Street Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Management Agreement does not "unquestionably demonstrates" that VMSI must indemnify HSC for HSC's own wrongful conduct. To this end HSC misinterprets language intended to prevent an insurance company from claiming a release from its obligations and to ensure that HSC can only recover against insurance.

The balance of HSC's arguments was only presented to the Superior Court in its motion for reconsideration and should not be considered on appeal. Even if this Court considers these arguments, they lack merit. HSC had at least three insurance companies covering any loss to Ms. Widrig. If HSC must collect its losses from one or more of them, it is not being forced to choose a remedy. HSC's collateral source argument is likewise flawed, because this rule is neither applicable to ordinary contracts nor can it be fit into the facts of this case because VMSI is not the wrongdoer.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The standard of review for a motion for summary judgment is de novo and the standard of review for a motion for reconsideration is manifest abuse of discretion.

The proper standard of review for a motion for summary judgment is de novo. The proper standard of review for a motion for reconsideration is abuse of discretion.

"Motions for reconsideration are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and a reviewing court will not reverse a trial court's ruling absent a showing of manifest abuse of discretion." Wilcox v. Lexington Eye Inst., 130 Wn. App. 234, 241, 122 P.3d 729 (2005). An abuse of discretion exists only if no reasonable person would have taken the view the trial court adopted, the trial court applied the wrong legal standard, or it relied on unsupported facts. Salas v. Hi–Tech Erectors, 168 Wn. 2d 664, 668–69, 230 P.3d 583 (2010).

Fishburn v. Pierce Cny. Planning & Land Servs. Dep't., 161 Wn. App. 452, 472, 250 P.3d 146 (2011).

B. The court should not consider HSC "No Damage" and "Strangers to the Contract" Arguments because HSC failed to perfect those issues for appeal.

Those sections of HSC's brief that argue the "strangers to the contract" theory and the "no damages" theory are not properly before this court. App. Br. §§VI. B. & C., 17-28. These theories appeared only in HSC's motion for reconsideration and come too late.

Wilcox claims she can raise new theories of law for the first time in a motion for reconsideration. Wilcox's reliance

on *Reitz* [v. Knight, 62 Wn. App. 575, 814 P.2d 1212 (1991)] is misplaced. In *Reitz*, we held that a new theory based on the evidence presented in a nonjury bench trial could be raised for the first time in a motion for reconsideration. But here, the motion for reconsideration arguments were based on new legal theories with new and different citations to the record. Wilcox offers no explanation for why these arguments were not timely presented. CR 59 does not permit a plaintiff to propose new theories of the case that could have been raised before entry of an adverse decision.

Wilcox v. Lexington Eye Inst., 130 Wn. App. 234, 241, 122 P.3d 729 (2005). HSC ascribes the reasons for the superior court's ruling on these two issues to VMSI's arguments. App. Br. at 8, 11, 17. The superior court did nothing other than construe the language of §11 of the Management Agreement in ruling on the merits of HSC's claim. CP 417.

C. There are no mandatory cross-claims.

HSC finds it necessary to justify its bringing this action by claiming its cross-claims were "mandatory cross-claims." App. Br. §IV. A., at 4. Cross-claims are not mandatory. CR 13(g) is written in permissive language. "Under CR 13(g), the assertion of a cross-claim is permissive.\(^{1}\)" *Krikava v. Webber*, 43 Wn. App. 217, 221, 716 P.2d 916 (1996). This is in keeping with HSC's claims that it had to bring this action against VMSI because if "mandatory contractual cross-claims are

¹ CR 13(g) states, in part: "A pleading *may* state as a cross-claim any claim by one party against a co-party arising out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter either of the original action or of a counterclaim therein or relating to any property that is the subject matter of the original action." (Italics ours.)

not brought, they are arguably waived." CP 336. This position is wholly untenable. HSC is bringing the wrong action against the wrong party for the wrong reasons.

- D. VMSI did not breach the Indemnity Provisions of the Management Agreement.
 - 1. HSC's contract interpretation violates the rules of logic.

The essence of HSC's contract interpretation argument is summed up in a single sentence: "So available insurance coverage was available and the duty to indemnify HSC even for its own negligence, if any, was triggered by 'available insurance coverage' provided in VMSI's insurance policy issued by Fireman's Fund." CP 44. If this were a true statement, then the contrapositive would be true: "There was no available insurance coverage and the duty to defend HSC was not triggered." Neither of these statements makes the slightest sense. HSC's argument is not logically sound.

2. The cases upon which HSC relies are not applicable to this litigation.

This is a contract action by HSC against VMSI over their Management Agreement. In support of its various propositions, HSC cites

² Take the statement, "If an object is red, then it has color." The contrapositive is, "If an object does not have color, then it is not red." This follows logically from the initial statement and, like it, it is true. See Roe v. TeleTech Customer Care Mgmt. (Colorado) LLC, 171 Wn. 2d 736, 257 P.3d 586 (2011) fn. 4.

cases involving tort claims intended to establish liability or liquidate the underlying claim. An example of this is reliance on Arreygue v. Lutz, 116, Wn. App. 938, 69 P.3. 881 (2003); App. Br. at 20. These cases are intended to bolster the argument that VMSI has an "obligation to indemnify HSC 'to the extent of available insurance coverage.'" App. Br. at 15. The trouble with analogizing this case with cases such as Arreygue is that liability has been determined and the claim liquidated. HSC is just not satisfied with the extent of Fireman's Fund's indemnity, and that issue must be resolved elsewhere. This dispute, if it is to be characterized as HSC desires, is really between Chartis and Fireman's Fund. They are the real parties in interest. CR 17. A more analogous situation occurred in Broderick v. Puget Sound Traction, Light & Power Co., 86 Wash. 399, 150 P. 616 (1915), where Mary Broderick sued a street railroad for damage to her automobile. The vehicle was being returned to the Broadway Automobile Company, which stored the car for her, by one of Broadway's employees. Broadway and its insurer repaired the car. Mrs. Broderick was uninvolved other than she incurred \$45.00 in transportation charges while her vehicle was being repaired. At the close of trial Judge Humphries offered to enter judgment for the \$45.00, and, when this was refused, he dismissed the case. Our Supreme Court affirmed. The rationale was simple; Mrs. Broderick's obtaining a judgment against the

street railway would not be *res judicata* as to the Broadway Automobile Company.

If the real party in interest analogy is applied to this case, Fireman's Fund has liquidated and resolved the claim as to Widrig. What is not resolved is the question of what "available insurance" exists to satisfy HSC, Martens or Chartis' claim for Martens' fees. VMSI has no means by which it can audit Martens' claim or determine what insurance is available, and, even if it did, Fireman's Fund would not be obliged to pay, because it is not a party to this action or the indemnity agreement. Fireman's is an insurer and undertook the obligation to defend HSC; that is the extent of "available insurance." This issue cannot be resolved in this action. It is also a factual issue that precludes summary judgment for HSC.

3. The superior court correctly applied the rules of contract interpretation and construction to the Management Agreement.

The first sentence of §11 obliges VMSI to indemnify and hold HSC harmless, except for HSC's intentional or negligent acts. This exception from indemnity applies in this case because the only claims prior to trial were negligence. Ms. Widrig's claims were never for anything but negligence. CP 7. Words in a contract are given their ordinary meaning, and courts do not adopt a contract interpretation that

renders terms ineffective or meaningless. *Cambridge Townhomes, LLC v. Pac. Star Roofing, Inc.* 166 Wn. 2d 475, 487, 209 P.3d 863 (2009). Indemnity agreements are strictly construed against the indemnitee if they appear to indemnify it for acts flowing from his own wrongs.

Although clauses purporting to exculpate an indemnitee from liability flowing solely from its own acts or omissions are not favored and are strictly construed, *Jones [v. Strom Constr. Co.*, 84 Wn. 2d 518, 520, 527 P.2d 1115 (1974)], we will enforce such provisions where the language of the agreement **unquestionably demonstrates** that this was the intent of the parties. *Snohomish County Pub. Transp. Benefit Area Corp. v. First Group America, Inc.*, 173 Wn. 2d 829, 271 P.3d 850, 854 (2012) (emphasis added).

Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n of Condo. Owners v. Supreme Nw., Inc., 168 Wn. App. 86, 285 P.2d 79 (2012). The Agreement contains a clear disclaimer of any duty to defend and indemnify for HSC's negligent or intentional conduct. It is HSC's burden to show that the Agreement "unquestionably demonstrates" VMSI was to indemnify HSC for its own wrongful conduct rather than an insurer.

A sentence-by-sentence review of §11 shows how the foregoing principles apply here.

Sentence 1:

Except in cases of negligence or Agent's intentional misconduct, Owner shall release, indemnify, defend and save Agent harmless from all suits, claims, assessments and charges which pertain to the management and operation of the Project.

CP 62. The first sentence is not subject to much dispute. Because the only claims by Ms. Widrig were for negligence, the duty to "release, indemnify, defend and save harmless" did not arise. Unless HSC can show that some other language in the Agreement "unquestionably demonstrates" that VMSI is to indemnify HSC, HSC's contractual interpretation fails.

Sentence 2:

The Project's duty to indemnify shall include all litigation expenses including reasonable attorneys' fees.

"The Project" refers to the real property, the "Villas at Meadow Springs."

CP 59. The sentence then announces it is the Property's duty, to "indemnify." This obligation omits any mention of VMSI, "release," "defend," and "save harmless."

Sentence 3:

Regardless of Agent's conduct, Agent shall be indemnified to the extent of available insurance coverage.

As in the preceding sentence, there is no mention of who is to indemnify HSC, the Agent. This sentence does not mention VMSI, the Owner, only HSC's right to be indemnified to the extent of available insurance coverage. The language gives HSC protection only to the extent insurance coverage is available. The logic of this sentence is to prevent an insurer from attempting to escape liability under Sentence 1.

The phrase "to the extent of available insurance coverage" is commonly used where a direct claim is barred, but insurance may cover Thus, in states that recognize spousal immunity but allow recovery against the spouse to the extent that there are insurance proceeds, the language protects the insured from any personal liability. See, e.g., Brooks v. Sturiano, 497 So. 2d 796 (Fl. App. 1987). Where sovereign immunity would bar the claim, this language permits the claim to the extent there is insurance coverage. Mims v. Clanton, 215 Ga. App. 665, 452 S.E. 2d 169 (1994). Bankruptcy courts often permit an action against an insured debtor, but only to the extent of available insurance proceeds. Schulz v. Holmes Transportation, Inc., 149 B.R. 251 (D.Mass. 1993). Similarly, many courts, including Washington courts, permit an action to be brought against a deceased to the extent of available insurance proceeds, even when the non-claim statute would bar the claim. See Callaghan v. Coberly, 927 F. Supp. 332 (W.D.Ark. 1996); Nelson v. Schnautz, 141 Wn. App. 466, 170 P.3d 69 (2007). This language does not create a claim against VMSI; it protects VMSI from HSC's claims, just as it protects the bankrupt, the sovereign, the deceased and the marital community. Here, this language permits HSC to recover to the extent there is insurance coverage because it is barred from recovering against VMSI. The words in the first sentence "Except in cases of negligence or

Agent's intentional misconduct" would be meaningless or ineffective were HSC's interpretation accepted. "An interpretation of a writing which gives effect to all of its provisions is favored over one which renders some of the language meaningless or ineffective." *Wagner v. Wagner*, 95 Wn. 2d 94, 101, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980).

HSC argues that the rules of contract construction would be violated by VMSI's interpretation. App. Br. at 11-17. But it is VMSI's interpretation that comports with the contract construction rules. All the parts have meaning. The parts are not contradictory. VMSI's interpretation is consistent with the clearly express agreement that it need not indemnify HSC for its own wrongful conduct, and this is consistent with how Washington courts are prone to interpret such agreements.

E. HSC is not necessarily entitled to a remedy against VMSI.

HSC argues that the superior court limited its remedies to pursuing VMSI's insurer, App. Br. at 17-23, claiming the court relied on VMSI's arguments. HSC refers us to CP 283-85, *Id.* p. 17, which is VMSI's response to HSC's motion for partial summary judgment. VMSI's response does not suggest such a result.

There are a number of contractual relations involved. Most are contemplated by, if not directly the result of, the Management Agreement. Some are express; some are implied. A short list includes:

(1) The Management Agreement, CP 59-64; (2) VMSI's Insurance Policy with Fireman's Fund, CP 389-90; (3) an endorsement to the policy making HSC an addition insured, id.; (4) an excess or umbrella policy from Chubb, CP 171; (5) an endorsement to the Chubb Policy making HSC an addition insured, id.; (6) HSC's Insurance Policy with Chartis, CP 389-90; (7) an agreement between Chartis employ Martens + Associates to represent HSC, CP 91; (8) an agreement between Fireman's Fund and Lee Smart to defend VMSI; (9) an agreement between Fireman's Fund and Gordon Hauschild to defend HSC, CP 66; (10) an agreement between VMSI to be represented by Lee Smart; (11) an agreement between HSC to be represented by Martens + Associates; (12) an agreement between HSC to be represented by Gordon Hauschild; and (13) an agreement between Chartis and Fireman's Fund over the primary assumption of defense, CP 389-94.

Chartis paid or is liable for Martens' fees if it hired Martens + Associates to defend HSC.³ *See*, *e.g.*, *Johnson v. Cont'l Cas. Co.*, 57 Wn. App. 359, 788 P.2d 598 (1990). Fireman's Fund agreed to pay HSC's defense costs.⁴ CP 389-94. HSC fails to explain why the parties are litigating an issue having nothing to do with either VMSI or HSC, other than they both purchased insurance policies.

³ "The firm was retained by Andrew Handler of Chartis (now known as AIG) on or about November 3, 2011, to defend HSC and Riverstone in this case." CP 91.

⁴ When Hauschild was employed to represent HSC, Martens was entitled to be paid at that time. RCW 2.44.020. This would have been a condition of substitution. HSC does not explain why this was not resolved.

HSC claims:

Here, the trial court's ruling that HSC's sole remedy was against VMSI's insurers actually likely precludes a recovery of the insurance proceeds by HSC because one cannot garnish an insurance policy simply by asserting a third party claim against it.

App. Br. at 22. To the contrary, HSC has at least two insurance policies that provided defense in this case. Chartis hired Martens, and Fireman's hired Hauschild. Like the attorney hired by Continental in *Johnson*, *supra*, Martens and Hauschild were obliged to defend HSC. This fails to explain why HSC would need compensation from VMSI. If the usual contractual obligations were in play here, and Chartis hired Martens + Associates to defend HSC, Chartis would have been liable for those fees. *Johnson*, *supra*.⁵

HSC may have been obligated to pay its deductible under its policy from Chartis.

In this case, this firm has not been paid for its work as the client would prefer to have VMSI cover the defense costs under the indemnity agreement and thus protect the client from an adverse claims ratio which would presumably raise its insurance costs. Here, HSC has a \$10,000 deductible under its insurance policy which is applicable to both defense costs and any payment to the claimant.

⁵ "[A]n insurer must . . . retain competent defense counsel for the insured." *Johnson*, 57 Wash. App. at 362.

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